ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Williamsburg County

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
SEP 03 2013
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

KELVIN MICHAEL BOWEN,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2011-185566

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Appellant's federal and state constitutional rights to due process of law were violated by the admission of a witness's identification of Appellant where the out-of-court identification process was unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2009, a Williamsburg County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for murder, burglary in the first degree, possession of a weapon during a violent crime, and criminal conspiracy. Indictments, R. 748 - 750. The prosecution, represented by Kimberly Barr and Tyler Brown, called the case to trial on January 31, 2011 before the Honorable Clifton Newman and a jury. William E. Jenkinson and Amanda Shuler represented Appellant. R. 46. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 728, line 21 – R. 729, line 4. Judge Newman sentenced Appellant to ninety-nine years for murder, thirty years for burglary in the first degree, five years for possession of a weapon during a violent crime, and five years for criminal conspiracy. R. 741, lines 14-18; sentence sheets, R. 751 - 754

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

Appellant's federal and state constitutional rights to due process of law were violated by the admission of a witness's identification of Appellant where the out-of-court identification process was unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification.

Relevant facts.

Preliminary hearing testimony.

Appellant's preliminary hearing occurred on June 10, 2009 before Magistrate William Ellerbe Ackerman. Kimberly Barr appeared on behalf of the state, and William E. Jenkinson, III appeared on behalf of Appellant. R 1.¹ Pamela Jean Lail, an investigator with the Williamsburg County Sheriff's Office, was the only witness called to testify. R. 3, line 21 – R. 4, line 3. She was involved in the investigation of the death of Kenyan Dorsey, the decedent on April 5, 2009. R. 4, lines 11-14. Lail found the decedent's body in a chair in front of a small television in his home. He appeared to have multiple gunshot wounds to his head. R. 6, lines 3-23. Lail learned from the decedent's mother that the decedent "ha[d] a problem" with Ronald Mack. R. 8, line 25 – R. 9, line 7. According to Lail, Mack's biological mother was Tawanda Allen Mack, and her boyfriend was Kelvin Bowen, Appellant. R. 10, lines 8-17.

Lail obtained a statement from Antonio McClary, Mack's friend. McClary claimed he observed text messages between Mack and someone identified as "Callie." R. 12, line 13 – R. 13, line 6. McClary believed Allen and Mack were en route from Maryland to help

¹ Appellant uses the following abbreviations to refer to the various transcripts. The preliminary hearing transcript dated June 10, 2009 will be referred to as "Prelim." The transcript from the hearing dated January 31, 2011 will be referred to as "ID hrg." The transcript from the trial will be designated using the abbreviation "Tr."

Mack “do something.” R. 13, lines 7-15. After going to a local nightclub, McClary, Mack, and others went to the home of a juvenile. McClary claimed Mack commented that “he was going to do a lick that night.” R. 13, lines 15-19. McClary and Mack left the residence and got into a vehicle with Allen and Callie. R. 14, lines 9-19. While in the vehicle, Mack and Callie got a shotgun and a handgun ready. R. 15, lines 2-8.

Upon arrival at the decedent’s residence, Allen remained in the vehicle, while the other three entered the residence. R. 16, lines 7-25. Initially, McClary denied entering the residence, but subsequent interviews with others indicated he did. R. 17, lines 1-5. According to McClary’s initial statement, he did not see what happened in the house, but heard two shots as he ran back to the vehicle. Shortly after he arrived at the vehicle, Mack and Callie also arrived. All four left the area. Mack and McClary returned to the juvenile’s residence, while Allen and Callie returned to Maryland. R. 17, lines 11-25.

After learning that Mack had transferred to a high school in Maryland, Lail informed the school’s resource officer that she had an arrest warrant for Mack. Lail testified “We also explained to him that there could possibly be a male subject with Ronald Mack that we needed to identify.” R. 18, lines 13-23. Shortly thereafter, Lail was notified that Mack had appeared at the school and was placed under arrest. The individual with Mack was Kelvin Michael Bowen, Jr., Appellant. Lail asked the officer to email photographs of both individuals to her. Lail then “brought Mr. McClary over and immediately upon seeing the photographs emailed he identified the one that was Callie, which the officers on the scene in Maryland identified him as Kelvin Michael Bowen, Jr.” R. 19, lines 1-14.

On cross-examination, Lail testified that she received photographs from the Maryland police and showed those photographs to McClary. She did not prepare a line-up

using the photographs “due to the immediate time frame.” She explained that Petitioner had not been placed under arrest, but was “detained strictly for identity purposes.” This placed a time limitation on her office to identify whether the person in the photograph was the unknown person involved in the shooting. McClary had identified him only as Callie. She did not have time to build a photo line-up as a result. R. 37, lines 1-25.

Pre-trial hearing.

On January 31, 2011, Appellant moved to suppress the identification made by McClary. The Honorable Clifton Newman presided over the hearing. R. 47, line 5 – R. 52, line 9. Investigator Lail testified regarding the identification procedures. During an interview on May 13, 2009, McClary described Callie as “real tall and scrawny” with “peasey,” not low cut hair, and brown skin. R. 55, lines 1-8.

In direct contradiction of her preliminary hearing testimony, Lail testified that she never gave a photograph to McClary. Rather, she explained: “My computer is such that at the back door of the investigations unit, I sit exactly as I’m sitting now with my computer right here. Anyone coming in the back would have access to the screen and he was brought in at the same time by another investigator or whomever.” R. 56, lines 6-19. She further denied even showing the photograph on her computer screen to McClary. She claimed that as soon as she uploaded the photograph from her email, “the investigator walked through with [McClary] and that’s when he looked at it and immediately, spontaneously said [‘W]here did you get a picture of Callie?’” R. 56, lines 19-24. On cross examination by the state, Lail claimed McClary “just happened to see [the photograph] when it came up onto [her] computer.” R. 59, lines 6-9. Lail admitted that the photograph did not show

Petitioner's hair or illustrate if he were tall and scrawny as McClary described. R. 57, lines 1-13.

When confronted with her preliminary hearing testimony, Lail admitted she had testified to showing McClary a photograph of Petitioner and that time did not permit a photographic line-up. R. 61, lines 4-15. Nevertheless, the judge found the identification admissible and held there was "no indication of any unduly suggestive identification by the [s]tate." R. 61, line 24 –R. 62, line 2.

Trial.

Antonio McClary testified against Petitioner at the trial. McClary pleaded guilty to burglary for his role in the murder of the decedent. R. 267, lines 2-6. McClary admitted he entered into a plea agreement with the prosecutor. R. 308, line 20 – R. 309, line 1. As part of the agreement, the murder charge was dismissed and the burglary first degree charge was reduced to burglary in the second degree. R. 309, lines 2-10. He received a twelve-year sentence. R.309, lines 12-14. However, McClary claimed that his testimony against Appellant was not part of the plea agreement. He contended the discussion about him testifying occurred after he agreed to the terms of the plea offer. R. 309, line 22 – R. 310, line 1. Nevertheless, McClary admitted that when he pleaded guilty, the prosecutor informed the judge that "we want him to do that" in reference to McClary testifying at trial. R. 310, line 2 – R. 311, line 19.

McClary knew Mack and the decedent. R. 270, lines 6-12. McClary claimed Mack and decedent were selling drugs and members of a gang. R. 315, lines 4-12. McClary and Mack were together on the weekend the decedent was killed. R. 270, lines 13-16. On Saturday, McClary, Mack, Dontrey Barr, and Quadir Wilson were at Club Jordan "having

some fun.” R. 272, line 20 – R. 273, line 4. While at the club, McClary encouraged Mack to calm down about his frustrations with the decedent. McClary assured Mack that McClary would handle it. R. 273, lines 18-25. At 1 a.m., McClary took Barr and Mack to Barr’s house. R. 273, lines 9-17. After taking Wilson to his home, McClary returned to Barr’s house. R. 274, lines 2-18.

Mack told McClary that he was going out to “handle his business” at the decedent’s house. R. 275, lines 1-8. McClary insisted on accompanying Mack. R. 275, lines 10-25. McClary and Mack changed clothes and walked outside Barr’s house where Mack’s mother, Tawanda Mack Allen, and Allen’s boyfriend were waiting. R. 276, lines 1-9. McClary estimated the time was 2:40 a.m. R. 276, lines 10-15. McClary referred to Allen’s boyfriend as “Callie.” R. 278, lines 4-5; R. 278, lines 13-14; R. 278, lines 23-24.

McClary claimed that he intended to offer to pay whatever debt the decedent owed to “stop all this.” When he turned around in the car to offer this suggestion, he saw Mack and Callie loading guns – a shotgun and a nine millimeter. R. 280, lines 4-23. Upon arrival at the decedent’s residence, McClary, Mack, and Callie exited the vehicle. Mack and Callie were armed and wearing gloves. R. 281, lines 16-20; R. 283, lines 11-12. The three entered the house through an unlocked door. R. 282, line 20 – R. 283, line 5. The trio split up in the house. R. 283, lines 16-25. When Mack told McClary that he could not find the decedent, McClary looked at Mack “like let’s be for real. Like come on now, I’m saying. I turned and then I pointed right at him sitting in the chair and he going to act surprise and had a really surprising look.” R. 284, line 9 – R. 285, line 4. Callie then entered the room. R. 285, lines 13-16. Mack fired a shot, followed by Callie shooting. McClary claimed Callie offered to let McClary shoot too, but McClary declined. R. 286, lines 2-16. All three ran to

the waiting vehicle. R. 286, lines 18-24. The foursome hurriedly left the scene. R. 291, lines 4-8. McClary and Mack returned to Barr's house, while Allen and Callie left. R. 294, lines 7-19.

Within two days of the decedent's death, the police interviewed McClary. He denied any involvement. R. 297, lines 6-16. The police re-interviewed McClary in May. R. 297, line 25 –R. 298, line 2. McClary claimed that Mack and Callie went to the decedent's house and killed him, but denied entering the house himself. R. 298, lines 13-23; R. 299, lines 1-6. He admitted this was a lie. R. 299, lines 7-8. After the second interview, McClary was arrested. R. 299, lines 18-20. Thereafter, police officers picked him up from the county jail, which was across the street from the sheriff's department. The officers explained "they had some more questions to ask [him] or whatnot." McClary entered the department and said "y'all already got Callie." The police looked at McClary and said "you know this guy right here" referring to a photograph on the computer screen. R. 299, line 21 – R. 300, line 11. On cross-examination, McClary admitted he was interviewed twice on that day in May. After the first interview, the officers accused him of lying and threatened to charge him with accessory after the fact of murder if he did not start giving them a story. R. 316, line 7 –R. 317, line 6. Further, McClary admitted that after his first statement, officers turned the recorder off and continued to talk to him. This discussion caused him to tell another story. He lied in the third statement as well. R. 317, line 9 – R. 318, line 10.

Upon further questioning by the prosecutor, McClary stated he saw a picture of an individual on Lail's computer and identified that person as Callie. R. 300, line 12 –R. 301, line 4. Over Appellant's objection, McClary then identified Appellant as Callie in court. R. 302, lines 2-24. Although McClary testified he had no doubt about the identification, he

failed to answer the prosecutor's question regarding the length of time he had to observe Callie. R. 302, line 25 – R. 303, line 6. On cross-examination, McClary testified he was taken over to the sheriff's office and shown a picture on a computer screen. R. 328, lines 17-21. As soon as McClary" walked in the picture was posted right there on the computer screen." R. 329, lines 4-9. He further admitted that he was told by police that "[t]hey wanted [him] to look at pictures to see if [he] could pick, they told [him] it was like nine of them. They said it was going to be pictured." R. 329, lines 13-19.

On cross-examination, McClary testified that he thought he described Callie to Lail as real tall with hair like an afro and muscular build. When confronted with his actual statement to Lail, he admitted he described Callie as real tall and scrawny. R. 325, line 19 – R. 326, line 20. McClary described Callie's hair as "Afro peezy." R. 327, lines 2-9. He also admitted that in the photograph that he used to identify Appellant as Callie, Appellant did not have "an Afro-peezy haircut." R. 330, lines 16-19. He admitted Appellant had a moustache in the photograph, but he never described that facial feature to officers. McClary candidly admitted that he could not tell the person's height or the person's build from the photograph. R. 331, lines 3 – 25.

After the preliminary hearing, McClary and his attorney met with Appellant and his attorney. When asked who Appellant was, McClary said he did not know him and that he was not Callie. R. 335, line 5 – R. 336, line 17. McClary testified that Callie did not have any scars on his face. However, when he looked at Appellant's face closely during the trial, he observed a six to eight inch scar across Appellant's jaw. R. 342, lines 8-10; R. 343, lines 6-13. However, McClary refused to sign a statement to that effect. R. 338, lines 7-16.

The prosecution called Ronald Mack to testify. At the time of Appellant's trial, Mack had pled guilty to murder and received a fifty-year sentence for his role in the death of the decedent. R. 195, lines 10-17. Mack did not remember what he told law enforcement on May 26, 2009 or what he informed the Court when he entered his guilty plea. R. 197 lines 23-25; R. 198, lines 3-6. Mack did not remember telling law enforcement that he had called Appellant to drive from Maryland to assist him in killing the decedent or that Appellant had the shotgun. R. 199, lines 19-23; R. 199, line 23 – R. 200, line 1. Mack admitted that he killed the decedent, but denied Appellant was present. R. 202, line 25 – R. 203, line 6. He further denied calling Appellant by the name "Callie." R. 203, lines 10-12.²

On cross-examination, Mack testified that the first time he saw Appellant was Mother's Day weekend in Kingstree when Appellant and Mack's mother picked Mack up to return to Maryland. R. 221, lines 13-25. Although Mack admitted giving a statement to law enforcement, he testified the statement was not true as it concerned Appellant. R. 223, lines 4-12. Mack reaffirmed his earlier testimony that Appellant was not present for and did not participate in the murder of decedent. R. 224, lines 19-23. Mack testified unequivocally that Appellant was not Callie. R. 225, lines 2-6.

Appellant presented an alibi defense. Appellant's son, Kelvin B., testified that on the weekend of April 4, 2009, he was with Appellant at their home in Maryland. He recalled receiving an electronic basketball court as an early birthday present from Appellant. The two spent the day assembling the basketball court and then playing with it. Afterwards, the two watched television and played video games. Later in the evening, the family called

² The prosecution introduced Mack's statement to law enforcement as an exhibit to impeach his testimony. R. 241, line 14 – R. 244, line 22; R. 535, line 5 – R. 542, line 5.

a cousin in Texas to wish her a happy birthday. The following day, on April 5, 2009, when Kelvin B. woke up, Appellant was home and cooked breakfast for them. R. 601, lines 6-9; R. 602, lines 8-24; R. 603, lines 2-10; R. 603, lines 15-24; R. 604, lines 14-22; R. 605, lines 2-23; R. 606, lines 2-5; R. 606, lines 15-22. On cross-examination, Kelvin B. testified that Appellant is from California, but is not called Callie. R. 610, lines 9-12.

Appellant's wife, Tiffany Bowen, also testified. Tiffany candidly admitted that she and Appellant began having marital problems in April or May of 2009. R. 612, line 18 – R. 613, line 4. Eventually, Tiffany learned Appellant was seeing Tawanda Mack Allen. Subsequently, she and Appellant argued about his relationship with Allen. R. 613, lines 5-12. On April 1, 2009, Appellant returned home from a trip to California visiting family. R. 614, lines 1-11. When she left her home on Saturday for an appointment, Appellant and Kelvin B. were at the home. R. 614, lines 15-21. Tiffany returned around 2:30 p.m. R. 614, lines 22-24. She discovered that Appellant had given Kelvin B. his birthday present early without discussing it her first. The family watched television and contacted her cousin by phone to wish her a happy birthday. R. 615, lines 2-21.

On Mother's Day weekend in 2009, Tiffany and Appellant argued over Allen. Appellant left their home on Friday. On Sunday, the two talked and Appellant returned home that evening. The following weekend, the two argued again. Appellant left, promising to end the relationship with Allen and attend marriage counseling. On Sunday night, Appellant called to say he was on his way home. Tiffany did not hear from him again until Tuesday morning when he called to say he had been arrested. R. 615, line 22 – R. 617, line 1.

Tiffany testified that Appellant always kept his hair cut low and never had an afro hair cut or style. R. 617, lines 17-23; R. 618, lines 17-19. She further testified that she had never heard anyone call him Callie. R. 617, lines 24-25.

Discussion.

When law enforcement use an identification procedure which is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification, an individual's right to due process of law is violated. Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293 (1967); State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 286, 540 S.E.2d 445, 447 (2000). If a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification, the in-court identification is not admissible. Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98 (1977); Moore, 343 S.C. at 286, 540 S.E.2d at 447. In Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1992), the United States Supreme Court created a two-prong inquiry to determine the admissibility of out-of-court identifications. First, the trial court must ascertain whether the identification process was unduly suggestive. Next, the trial court must determine whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Id. at 198. The central issue is whether the identification was reliable even though the confrontation procedure was suggestive under the totality of the circumstances. Id. The following factors should be considered when evaluating the totality of the circumstances: (1) the witness's opportunity to view the perpetrator at the time of the crime; (2) the witness's degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the perpetrator; (4) the level of certainty demonstration by the witness; and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. Id. at 199; see also State v. Stewart, 275 S.C. 447, 450, 272 S.E.2d 628, 629 (1980).

Our courts have found some identification procedures patently suggestive. For example, in State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 600 S.E.2d 523 (2004), our Supreme Court held a line-up procedure wherein three victims were in the same room, sitting within feet of each other, while observing photographic line-ups was blatantly unacceptable. Id. at 81-82, 600 S.E.2d at 527. Nevertheless, the Court found the identification was admissible based upon the totality of the circumstances. Those circumstances included the victims not conversing during the line-up and not being aware of whom the other victims selected, if anyone. The victims testified they observed the assailant from one minute to ten minutes and their prior descriptions generally matched that of the person identified. All testified they were certain of their identifications, which were made two days after the incident. Id. at 83, 600 S.E.2d at 527.

Our Supreme Court held a show-up identification was unduly suggestive in Moore, supra. A witness observed two people exiting her neighbor's home when she knew the neighbor was away. She called the police and provided a general description of the men, primarily focused on the clothing. Id. at 285, 540 S.E.2d at 447. Ninety minutes later, officers took the witness to an area where two men were being detained. The witness positively identified the two men as the perpetrators. Her identification was based upon the clothing she observed. She admitted she had not really seen their faces earlier. Id. at 285-286, 540 S.E.2d at 447. As explained by the Court, "[s]ingle person show-ups are particularly disfavored in the law." Id. at 287, 540 S.E.2d at 448 (citing Stovall, 388 U.S. at 302 and State v. Johnson, 311 S.C. 132, 134, 427 S.E.2d 718, 719 (Ct. App. 1993)). The procedure in Moore was unduly suggestive. Id. Further, the Court found the identification unreliable as a matter of law. In the case presented, the Court found the only factor with any

reliability was the amount of time between the crime and the confrontation, which was ninety minutes. The other factors clearly outweighed that one where the witness observed the two perpetrators for a brief time at a significant distance, the degree of attention was not great, and the accuracy of her description was tenuous. *Id.* at 449, 540 S.E.2d at 290.

Crediting Lail's preliminary hearing testimony, the police engaged in a single-photograph array identification procedure with McClary. Such identification procedures are inherently unreliable and unduly suggestive. Lail testified that Appellant was being detained only for identification purposes, and as a result, time was of the essence. She had no ability to prepare a proper multi-photograph line-up, using photographs similar to the one of Appellant in her possession. Based on the time constraints, Lail showed McClary the single photograph of Appellant she received from the Maryland police officers.

Even using Lail's starkly contrasting pretrial hearing testimony, the police action in creating the suggestive identification procedure must not be discounted. Lail was aware that officers had gone to the jail to pick up McClary and deliver him to her for further questioning. Lail was aware of the door officers would use to take McClary into the sheriff's department. Lail was aware that her computer screen was visible from the door entering the sheriff's department. Without question, Lail arranged for McClary to observe a single-photograph at the sheriff's department. The trial judge erred in failing to conclude the identification procedure was not unduly suggestive.

Erroneously determining the photo identification procedure was not unduly suggestive, the trial judge never examined the totality of the circumstances to determine if the identification was reliable. Turning to the first factor, McClary had very little time to view Callie. The entire encounter between the two lasted less than one hour and occurred

during the nighttime in poorly lit environments. McClary testified that he did not look at Callie very much during their time together. He looked out the window while the two were in the vehicle together, and the trio separated in the house. McClary's attention was not strong. He testified that he was still in the frame of mind for "clubbing." McClary's description of Callie did not match Appellant's physical features. Appellant did not have the same hairstyle or body build as the man described by McClary. Additionally, McClary failed to describe obvious facial features of Appellant – a mustache and a long scar. Finally, McClary's identification of Appellant occurred over a month after the crime.

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully requests this Court find the identification procedure unduly suggestive, the identification unreliable as a matter of law, and remand the matter for a new trial. In the alternative, Appellant requests this Court find the identification procedure unduly suggestive and remand the matter for a determination of the reliability factors.