ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Williamsburg County

Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2011-185566

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

KELVIN MICHAEL BOWEN,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

BRENDAN J. McDONALD
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 77784

ERNEST A. FINNEY, III
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3188

ATTORNEY(S) FOR RESPONDENTS

RECEIVED

SEP 05 2013

COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The trial court correctly determined the identification procedure at issue was not unduly suggestive since the record establishes McClary’s identification of Appellant was an unprompted, spontaneous statement made in response to seeing a photograph which he immediately recognized as “Callie,” his co-defendant in the incident now at issue

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in finding the identification procedure at issue failed the first prong of Biggers arguing the procedure was “inherently unreliable and unduly suggestive.” Br. of App. at 16. Appellant further suggests that had the trial court engaged in the next prong of a Biggers analysis, it would have concluded McClary’s identification was unreliable. Br. of App. at 17. Quite simply, the State disagrees as the process utilized here, was not a true “show-up” as Appellant contends, but is instead merely a confirmatory process in light of the fact McClary already knew Appellant, albeit by his nickname, based upon the fact the two had met before when they participated in Victim’s murder. See Liverman, 398 S.C. at 141-42, 727 S.E.2d at 427-28 (“The suggestive nature of a show-up is mitigated by the witness’s prior knowledge of the accused. We concur with those jurisdictions that consider the show-up identification procedure, normally considered unduly suggestive, as merely confirmatory.”).

The Supreme Court has outlined a two-step approach to determine the admissibility of eyewitness identification testimony. First, the defendant must prove that the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive. Holdren v. Legursky, 16 F.3d 57, 61 (4th Cir.1994) (citing Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 114 (1977)). Second, even if the defendant proves that the identification procedure was suggestive, an identification is still valid if it is reliable. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. at 114; Biggers, 409 U.S. at 188.

“[T]he factors to be considered in evaluating the likelihood of misidentification include the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness’ degree of attention, the accuracy of the witness’ prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation.” Biggers, at 199-200. “Reliability of the eyewitness identification is the linchpin.” Perry v. New Hampshire, 132 S.Ct. 716, 718-19 (2012) (internal quotations omitted).

A. The Identification Procedure is not Unduly Suggestive

Appellant maintains that despite the mandate of Biggers, which requires courts to determine whether a given procedure is impermissibly suggestive on a case-by-case basis, South Carolina’s appellate courts have found certain identification procedures patently suggestive. In particular, Appellant notes that in State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 600 S.E.2d 523 (2004) our Supreme Court found a procedure in which three victims were put in the same room, within several feet of one another and received the same line-up with names written on the back was “patently suggestive.” Appellant further cites to Moore as another case in which an identification procedure, in this case a “show-up” was held to be suggestive.

In response, the State simply notes that a review of the facts and circumstances surrounding the identification procedure utilized here clearly shows that unlike both Traylor, a photo lineup case and Moore, a show-up case in which the witness based her identification off of the clothing worn by the defendant, the trial court correctly concluded the identification process utilized was not unduly suggestive.

With respect to the issue of whether an identification procedure is impermissibly suggestive, due process mandates that such a determination be assessed “on a case-by-case basis[.]” Liverman, 398 S.C. at 139, 727 S.E.2d at 426 (citing Biggers, 409 U.S. at 198).

Additionally, “[t]he fallibility of eyewitness evidence does not, without the taint of improper state conduct, warrant a due process rule requiring a trial court to screen such evidence for reliability before allowing the jury to assess its creditworthiness.” Biggers, 408 U.S. at 196-97. Moreover, the exclusion of identification evidence is a “drastic sanction” which is “limited to identification testimony which is manifestly suspect.” Harker v. Maryland, 800 F.2d 437, 443 (4th Cir. 1986).

Here, to the extent one can even consider the process utilized as being a true identification procedure created by the State, there is nothing to suggest such a procedure was unduly suggestive. Notably, a review of the identification hearing shows that Lail never told McClary he was coming to the station for anything other than a second interview. (R. 52-61). In fact, Lail testified it was only as McClary was coming over to her office for a second interview, that she even received an e-mail from Maryland authorities explaining that they had arrested Mack and were detaining another person who was yet to be identified. (R. 19, 36-39). This was corroborated by officer Justin Whack who confirmed McClary was not being taken to the station to view a photograph, but was instead being taken to an interview room for an interview when he happened to observe the photograph which he spontaneously recognized was “Callie.” (R. 561-62). Whack elaborated on this explaining that not only was McClary not there for the purpose of making an identification, but added that authorities never even showed McClary the photograph, testimony which of course confirmed Lail’s testimony from the identification hearing. (R. 566); (R. 56). Indeed, outside of McClary’s statement in cross-examination, a statement which is inconsistent with his testimony on direct, there is simply nothing in the record to suggest that McClary was brought to the station for the purpose of making an identification. As such, there is simply nothing showing McClary’s spontaneous recognition of “Callie” amounted to an

impermissibly suggestive identification procedure similar to those utilized in Traylor, Moore or any other case.

B. The Identification is Reliable

Yet even assuming one determines McClary's spontaneous recognition of "Callie" is an identification procedure and further assuming such a procedure is impermissibly suggestive, the totality of the circumstances still support the admission of McClary's alleged identification. As detailed above, "the factors to be considered in evaluating the likelihood of misidentification include the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime, the witness' degree of attention, the accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal, the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation, and the length of time between the crime and the confrontation." Biggers, at 199-200. "Reliability of the eyewitness identification is the linchpin." Perry, 132 S.Ct. at 718-19 (internal quotations omitted).

Applying, the factors from Biggers the State first notes McClary had approximately an hour to observe "Callie" in a variety of different lighting environments and for a prolonged period of time. Moreover, in light of the circumstances, namely that the group understood it was going to be carrying out a murder, McClary, despite saying he was initially in the "clubbing" state of mind, clearly focused on the situation at hand noting that he covered his face to prevent being identified by a potential victim and was the first person to find and identify Victim. Additionally, in the aftermath of the incident McClary's testimony shows he was very focused on the fact that "Callie" was staring him down, explaining that he looked on as "Callie" "mean mugged" him.

Furthermore, even if one, for purposes of discussion believed Appellant's subjective argument regarding the perceived accuracy of McClary's identification, the fact that McClary,

without any prompting whatsoever, immediately told authorities the photograph was “Callie” obviously enhances the reliability of the identification as a whole. Indeed, this was noted by the Liverman Court who recently explained “the fact that an identification witness knows the accused remains a significant factor in determining reliability.” 398 S.C. at 141, 727 S.E.2d at 427. Indeed, the record clearly reflects McClary knew “Callie” not by his haircut or his build, but instead because of his face, something which was made quite apparent by his spontaneous recognition of “Callie” from simply encountering a photograph as he was making his way to an interview. Accordingly, the State submits that when considering reliability is the linchpin under Perry, and in light of the fact that exclusion of identification evidence is a “drastic sanction . . . limited to identification testimony which is manifestly suspect” pursuant to Harker, the State maintains the trial court correctly admitted McClary’s testimony regarding his spontaneous recognition of “Callie.”

II. Even if the Trial Court Erred in Admitting McClary’s Spontaneous Recognition of “Callie” any Error is Harmless

The State submits that even if the trial court erred in admitting McClary’s spontaneous recognition of Appellant’s photograph as being “Callie,” any error is harmless. “A harmless error analysis is contextual and specific to the circumstances of the case.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 448–49, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011). Indeed, no definite rule of law governs a finding of harmless error; rather, the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case. State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 193–94, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990). Thus, when determining whether error is harmless, a case’s particular facts must be considered along with various factors including: “the importance of the witness’ testimony in the prosecution’s case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of

cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case." State v. Clark, 315 S.C. 478, 481, 445 S.E.2d 633, 635 (1994) (quoting Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 684 (1986)).

Here, because McClary's identification was cumulative to Mack's statement identifying Appellant as "Callie" in addition to his testimony on cross-examination that Appellant was "Callie," any error was harmless. Specifically, a review of Mack's statement firmly establishes that Appellant is "Callie." Additionally, because Mack, despite not cooperating, twice slipped up explaining "Callie" was driving his mother's vehicle when both he and Appellant were arrested, any error is harmless. (R. 204, 207). Indeed, it is clear the jury's decision to convict Appellant was largely based upon Mack's statement since it was the only exhibit that was replayed for the jury. In light of these facts, the State submits that were this Court to find the trial court erred in admitting McClary's spontaneous recognition of "Callie" any error is necessarily harmless.

CONCLUSION

For the aforementioned reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm Appellant's convictions and sentences.